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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF NEW YORK
INDEX NO.: 160874/2019
DAVID BOIES,
‘ YERIFIED ANSWER WITH
Plaintifft, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND
COUNTERCLAIMS
-against-
ALAN DERSHOWITZ,
Defendant.
ALAN DERSHOWITZ,

Counterclaim Plaintiff,

-against-

DAVID BOIES,

Counterclaim Defendant.

Defendant Alan Dershowitz (hereinafter “Dershowitz”) hereby answers the Complaint of

Plaintiff David Boies (hereinafter “Boies™) and asserts Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims

as follows:
ANSWER
NATURE OF THE ACTION
1. Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny this

paragraph in the form so alleged, except that it is denied that Dershowitz has leveled “false”
accusations against Boies.

2. Denied.
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3. Denied that Dershowitz’s statements are false.
4. Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny this

paragraph in the form so alleged.

5. Dérshowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny this
paragraph in the form so alleged, in that this paragraph appears to be a recitation of Boies’ opinion.

6. Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny this
paragraph in the form so alleged, except that it is denied that Boies has presented Dershowitz with
evidence demons‘;rating that the allegations against him are false.

7. Dershowitz lacks kﬁowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny this
paragraph in the form so alleged, in that this paragraph appears to be a recitation of Boies’ opinion.

THE PARTIES

8. This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or
deny the allegations of this paragraph.

9. This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no respoﬁse is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied that Boies has suffered any damages.

11.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied that Dershowitz published “defamatory statements”.

12. This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the

extent a response is required, denied that Dershowitz published “defamatory statements”.

2 of 53



: Y ERK 01/ 2772 0_6: 10 ‘ | NDEX NO. 160874/ 2019
NYSCEF DOC. NO. >@sSe 1-19-CV-U3377- -ITFed08rtsi20  Regs 9 Réscer: 01/ 27/ 2020

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

13.  This paragraph refers to a document which speaks for itself, and thus no response
is required. To the extent a response is required, Boies’ client Giuffre made allegations against the
Dershowitz in 2014, while represented by Boies, that were categorically false, and Dershowitz has
vehemently denied those allegations since they were first made.

14.  This paragraph refers to a document which speaks for itself, and thus no response
is required. To the extent a response is required, Boies’ client Ransome made allegations against
the Dershowitz in 2017, while represented by Boies, that were categorically false, and Dershowitz
has vehemently denied those allegations since they were first made.

15.  This paragraph refers to a document which speaks for itself, and thus no response
is required. To the extent a response is required, Dershowitz has interposed an answer to Giuffre’s
complaint and asserted affirmative defenses and counterclaims against Giuffre for the defamatory
statements she and her agents have made against Dershowitz.

16.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

17.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

18.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

19.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the S
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

20.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the

extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.
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21. De‘rshowiti lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the S
allegations of this paragraph.

22.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

23. Deénied. _ ‘

24, Denied.
25. Denied.

26.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required. Ransome’s accusation against Dershowitz referred to in this paragraph is
vehemently denied.

27.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

28.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

29.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a respdnse is required, denied in the form alleged.

30.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.

31.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

32.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

33. Denied
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34, Denied.
35. Denied.

36.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

37.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is requiréd.

38.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

39.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response ‘is required, denied in the form alleged.

40.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.

41.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

42. Denied.
43. Denied.

44. Denied.

45.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

46.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is requirgd.

47.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the

2

extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.
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48.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

49.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.

50. . Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”. .

51. Denied.
52. Denied.
53. Denied.

¢
/

54.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

55.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

56.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is requiréd. To the o
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

57.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

58.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

59.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.

60.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.
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61. Denied.
62. Denied.
63. Denied.

64.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

65.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required. |

66.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

67.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no reSponse is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form élleged.

68.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.

69. Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

70. Denied.
71. Denied.
72. Denied.

73.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.
74.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no

response is required, to the extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.
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75.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required, to the extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

76.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response 'is required, denied in the form alleged.

77.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

78.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of thi; paragraph.

79.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”. ...

80. Denied.
81. Denied.
82. Denied.

83.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

84.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

85.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response vis required, denied in the form alleged.

86.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

87.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which né response is required. To the

extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.
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88.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.
89.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

90. Denied.
91. Denied.
92. Denied.

93.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

94.  This paragraph refers to a published article which speaks for itself, and thus no
response is required.

95.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is requiréd. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

96.  This paragraph asserts a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the
extent a response is required, denied in the form alleged.

97.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of this paragraph.

98.  Dershowitz lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the

allegations of this paragraph, except denied as to the characterization “defamatory statements”.

99.  Denied. .
100. Denied.
101. Denied.
102. Denied.
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103. Denied, in that Defendant’s statements are factual.

104. Denied.
105. Denied.
106. Denied.
107.  Denied.
108. Denied.
109. Denied.
110. Denied.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies” Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.
SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies’ claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitationg.
THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies’ claims are barred by the single publication rule.
"FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies’ claims are barred by the doctrines of laches, waiver, ratification and/or estoppel.
FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies’ claims are barred because Dershowitz’s allegedly defamatory statements
concerning Giuffre are true or substantially true.

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ claims are barred because Dershowitz’s allegedly defamatory statements are all

protected by the First Amendment and Article I, Section 8 of the New York State Constitution.

10

10 of 53



: Y ERK 01/ 277 202 6 P | NDEX NO. 160874/ 2019
NYSCEF DOC. NO. PS¢ T ISCvU35T FEAP  DOCHTRENT 1% 0PI OB 8120 Raee VeS8 whcer: 01/ 27/ 2020

- SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ claims are barred because Dershowitz’s allegedly defamatory statements are all
protected by the self-defense privilege.

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ claims are barred because he is a public figure and Dershowitz did not act with
actual malice.

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ claims are barred because the alleged defamatory statements at issue in the
Complaint did not cause or contribute to any damages suffered by Giuffre.

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ claims are barred by the incremental harm doctrine.

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ suffered no damages by reason of the acts complained of in the Complaint, or by
any acts or omissions of Dershowitz and/or for which Dershowitz is legally responsible.

TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ alleged damages, if any, are speculative, hypothetical, unsupported by any
reasonable methodology, and are not cognizable as a matter of law.

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ alleged losses, if any, were caused by his own actions and/or inactions and/or the
actions of third parties, and therefore, he is precluded from recovery from Dershowitz.

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ failed to mitigate his damages, if any.

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

11
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Dershowitz is not liable to Boies in any amount because, at all times relevant herein,
Dershowitz has not acted improperly or in bad faith with respect to Boies.

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Dershowitz is not liable to Boies in any amount because, at all times relevant herein, Boies

has failed to act properly and in good faith with respect to Dershowitz.

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies and his partners, employees, co-counsel, agents and/or his cliehts are with unclean
hands and have engaged in conduct consistent with intimidation, extortion, malicious prosecution
and/or abuse of process.

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies and his partners, employees, co-counsel, agents and/or his clients are with unclean
hands, in filing the within lawsuit and other actions and are acting in a manner with intent, or
reckless disregard, to harass, intimidate Dershowitz, and/or seek publicity and media attention,
and financial gain, at the expense and detriment of Dershowitz.

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boies’ action is barred by the doctrines of res judicata and/or judicial estoppel and/or
collateral estoppel.
TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Boiies’ claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrine of unclean hands.
TWENTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
By virtue of the tortious conduct and defamatory statements of Boies and his partners,

employees, agents, co-counsel and/or clients, made against Dershowitz, Boies is barred in whole

or in part from recovering for the claims made in his Complaint.

12
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TWENTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ Complaint is barred in whole or in part, as Boies, and/or his partners, and/or his
employees, and/or his agents, and/or hid co-counsel, and/or his clients, are with unclean hands as
they have engaged in defamation, libel, and/or slander per se against Dershowitz.

TWENTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ Complaint is barred in whole or in part as Boies, and/or his partners, and/or his
employees, and/or his agents, and/or his co-counsel, and/or his clients are with unclean hands in
commencing a lawsuit in bad faith, engaging in tortious public banter, defamatory conduct and
disparagement, in engaging in repeated harassing behavior and conduct directed Dershowitz,
therein causing damages.

TWENTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ Complaint is barred in whole or in part as Boies, and/or his partners, and/or his
employees, and/or his agents, and/or his clients are with unclean hands, in that they have engaged
in abuse of process, suborned perjury, engaged in an extortive scheme, engaged in deceit and
collusion, submitted false affidavits, pleadings and submissions to the court, have engaged in the
filing of a lawsuit in bad faith, engaging the media and public sphere with defamatory and self-
serving statements, solely in order to gains public notoriety, product and self-promotion, and
recognition, and in order to seek financial gain at the expense and detriment of Dershowitz, and
have violated New York Judiciary Law § 487, and/or 22 N.Y.C.R.R. 130-1.1.

TWENTY-FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

The acts alleged to have been committed in Boies’ Complaint, if found to have been
committed, were committed by third-parties over which Dershowitz had no control nor right of

control.
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TWENTY-SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ Complaint is barred in whole or in part as Boies, and/or his partners, and/or his
employees, and/or his agents, and/or his co-counsel, and/or his clients are with unclean hands in
commc;ncing a 1a§vsuit in bad faith, engaging in tortious public banter, defamatory conduct and
disparagement, in engaging in repeated harassing behavior and conduct directed at Dershowitz,
therein causing intentional, reckless and/or negligent infliction of emotional distress, and/or
negligently and/or with reckless disregard causing Dershowitz pain and suffering.

TWENTY-SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ Complaint is barred in whole or in part as Boies, and/or his partners, and/or his
employees, and/or his co-counsel, and/or his agents, and/or his clients, are with unclean hands, and
have engaged in tortious cénduct by engaging in a campaign of disparagement and false
accusations against Dershowitz and thereby damaging Dershowitz’s business, professional and
personal reputation and relationships and Giuffre and/or her attorneys and/or agents’ actions made
on her behalf constitute prima facie tort /against Dershowitz.

TWENTY-EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Boies’ Complaint contains redundant, immaterial, impertinent, and/or scandalous matter
and allegations that should be stricken by this Court pursuant to CPLR § 3024(b). Boies’ inclusion
of this material is part of a design to disseminate knowingly false and defamatory material about
Dershowitz to the media.

TWENTY-NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Dershowitz reserves the right to raise any and all other affirmative defenses he deems

proper based on the discovery process or any future development of the case.

14
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WHEREFORE, Defendant ALAN DERSHOWITZ respectfully requests judgment

dismissing the Plaintiff’s Complaint against him, together with the costs and disbursements of this

action, and for any expenses incurred by him in the defense thereof, including attorneys’ fees and

costs, and such other and further relief as to this Court may seem just and proper.

COUNTERCLAIMS a

1. Counterclaim Plaintiff Alan Dershowitz (hereinafter “Dershowitz”) brings the
within counterclaims against Counterclaim Defendant David Boies (hereinafter “Boies”) for
defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and violations of New York Judieiary Law
§ 487.

2. Since 2014, Boies, members of his law firm Boies Schiller Flexner LLP (hereinafter
referred to collectively, including Boies, Sigrid McCawley, relevant firm attorneys, employees,
and their agents and relevant co-counsel Bradley Edwards, Paul Cassell, and Stanley Pottinger, as
“BSF”) and their clients Virginia Giuffre, Sarah Ransome, and Maria Farmer (hereinafter referred
to individually as “Giuffre”, “Ransome” and “Farmer”, and collectively as “BSF Clients™) -
motivated by money and other improper factors - have engaged in a sustained campaign to subvert
the judicial process for the purposes of disseminating outrageous, knowingly false and defamatory
claims accusing Dershowitz of sexual abuse. Boies’ conduct has gone beyond that of a lawyer
advocating for his client, and has crossed over into the sphere of animus and bitterness. Motivated
by this animus, Boies, BSF and the BSF Clients have waged a war of defamation against
Dershowitz. These actions have led to Dershowitz being vilified and strung up in the court of
public opinion despite his efforts to clear his name in the public domain. In order to defend against
these salacious claims, Dershowitz has exercised his First Amendment right and publically
denounced these accusations as false and has sought to bring to light the nefarious purpose of
Boies, BSF and the BSF Clients’ scheme. ' S

15
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3. Critically, vthe actions of Boies and BSF ago beyond the tort of defamation. These
intentional actions have taken a tremendous emotional and physical toll on Dershowitz. And
perhaps most troubling, is that Boies, BSF, and the BSF Clients have become active participants
in a larger extortive scheme in order to extract settlements, and concessions from those in positions
of power — with Dershowitz becoming the public exemplar of their false claims. Boies, BSF and
their co-counsel, acting in a manner of an enterprise advancing an extortive scheme and pattern of
improper conduct, have suborned this perjury, and have knowingly submitted the false claims and
allegations within pleadings and submissions to courts within the State of New York, within the
instant action, and within filings in federal éourt in the Southern District of New York, in causes
of action premised on New York law. These actions are in violation of New York Judiciary Law
§ 487.

4. Dershowitz brings the within counterclaims in order to rectify tortious conduct of
Boies, BSF and the BSF Clients by establishing the truth and to hold Boies accountable for his
own actions, and that BSF and the BSF Clients, for which he is libel for as both respondeat
superior, partner and/or as agent, respectively. Dershowitz seeks to recover damages for the
serious harm his reputation, his business, and his health, and importantly, seeks vindication,
justice, and the restoration of his good name.

PARTIES

5. Dershowitz is a renowned criminal defense attorney and Professor Emeritus at
Harvard Law School. He has authored more than 40 books and is a frequent public speaker on
issues of criminal‘ defense, constitutional law, First Amendment freedoms, and the Middle East.

6. Boies is likewise a renowned attorney, and is the managing partner at Boies Schiller

Flexner LLP (“BSF”) is a Limited Liability Partnership law firm registered in New York with its
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principal place of business at 55 Hudson Yards, 20th Floor, New York, New York 10001, and
conducts businesé in the State of New York. Boies and BSF (including co-counsel, Edwards,
Cassell, and Pottinger) represent Virginia Giuffre, Sarah Ransome and Maria Farmer, and Boies
and BSF have taken the lead in bringing their false claims against Dershowitz to the public domain.
Boies is the authorized agent of Giuffre, Ransome and Farmer, and as such, he is liable for the
torts committed By Giuffre, Ransome, and Farmer, that he participated, condoned, facilitated
and/or encouraged. As managing partner of BSF, he is liable for the actions of his employees,
partners and/or agents, the co-counsel he has acted in concért with and/or aided and abetted in the
tortious and/or extortive scheme implemented against Dershowitz and others, and as respondeat
superior, and/or pursuant to the laws of partnership, and/or pursuant to the laws of agency.!

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. Jurisdiction in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York,
is proper, as this Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 7 of Article VI of the
Constitution of the State of New York and pursuant to Judiciary Law § 140-b because this is a
civil action for, inter alia, monetary damages (exclusive of interest and costs) in excess of the
jurisdictional maximum of the Civil Court, and Plaintiff’s claims exceed the jurisdictional
threshold of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York. Furthermore,
insofar as this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Boies’ Complaint, it has supplemental
jurisdiction over Dershowitz’s Counterclaims made herein. Jurisdiction is further proper pursuant

to C.P.L.R. § 301 and/or § 302 because Boies is a New York domiciliary, Boies has voluntarily

! Boies has admitted in a proposed Amended Complaint in Giuffre v. Dershowitz that “Boies was
acting as Plaintiff’s lawyer and agent”. 1:19-cv-03377-LAP, Document 101, filed 12/20/19
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submitted to the jurisdiction of the State of New York, County of New York, by filing his
complaint there, and Boies has committed tortious acts there.
8. Venue is proper in New York County under C.P.L.R. § 503(a), where upon
information and belief, a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims occurred in New
York County, including the defamatory acts.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The Root of the False Accusations and Boies’ Campaign of Defamation

9. In or about 1996, Dershowitz began to develop a professional and academic
relationship with the now deceased financier Jeffrey Epstein (“Epstein”). Epstein was a patron of
the arts and academia who would frequently invite academics, politicians, business leaders, and
other influential individuals to his homes in New York, Florida, and elsewhere for discussion.
Dershowitz was a gﬁest at some of these events and an occasional visitor to Epstein’s properties.
He joined suéh distinguished guests as the President and Provost of Harvard, the Dean of the
Kennedy School, and several distinguished professors, business leaders, and government officials S
from around the world, who at the time, simply viewed Epstein as a prominent figure with diverse
intellectual and economic interests.

10.  However, Epstein’s actions would soon come into question and under scrutiny by
law enforcement and the public, and his repﬁtation irreparably tarnished. In 2006, Epstein learned -
that prosecutors in Florida were investigating him for alleged sex crimes. Dershowitz being a
preeminent criminal defense attorney, Epstein asked him to join his legal defense team, and
Dershowitz accepted. Ultimately, Epstein’s legal team, comprised of Dershowitz, Roy Black,

Kenneth Starr, Jay Lefkowitz, Gerald Lefcourt, and several other prominent lawyers, negotiated a
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non-prosecution agreement with federal prosecutors and Epstein agreed to plead guilty to state
charges for soliciting a minor for prostitution and to register as a sex offender.

11.  In 2008, tv§o women whom the government had previously identified as victims of
sexual abuse by Epstein filed an action pursuant to the Crime Victims’ Rights Act (“CVRA”),
alleging that the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Florida had violated
their rights under the CVRA, 18 U.S.C. § 3771, by failing to timely inform them that it had entered
into the non-prosecution agreement with Epsteih. See Doe v. United States, 9:08-cv-80736, Dkt.
No. 435 at pp. 22-23 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 21, 2019).

Baseless Allegations made by Giuffre with the Support of Boies and BSF

12. On December 30, 2014, BSF’s co-counsel for Plaintiffs in the CVRA Action,
| Edwards and CasSell, filed the Joinder Motion on behalf of Giuffre and another woman, seeking
to have them added as Plaintiffs in the case. Although it was not publicly known at the time, and
though Boies has denied it, albeit falsely, BSF rei)resented Giuffre in connection with the Joinder
Motion. 2
13: Giﬁffre and her lawyers, including Boies and BSF, alleged in the CVRA Joinder
Motion that in addition to sexually abusing her himself, Epstein had “required [Giuffre] to have
sexual relations with Dershowitz on numerous occasions while she was a minor, not only in Florida
but also on private planes, in New York, New Mexico and the U.S. Virgin Islands[,]” and that, “in
addition to being éparticipant in the abuse of [Giuffre] and other minors, Dershowitz was an eye-
witness to the sexual abuse of many other minors by Epstein and several of Epstein’s co-

conspirators.” See CVRA Joinder Motion, annexed hereto as EXHIBIT A.

2 Stanley Pottinger also serves as co-counsel for Giuffre.
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14.  Giuffre had not previously accused Dershowitz of having sex with her. To the
contrary, she has made statements - both orally and in writing - that directly contradicted her
accusation. Despite these contradictions, Boies and BSF continued to advance and support the
unfounded claimé - and continue to this day.
15.  Giuffre further alleged in the CVRA Joinder Motion that she had been sexually
abused by British Royal Prince Andrew, and “many other powerful men, including numérous
prominent American politicians, powerful business executives, foreign presidents, a we’ll-knoWn
Prime Minister, énd other world leaders,” none of whom were publicly identified (other than
Dershowitz, Prince Andrew, and a French modeling agency executive, Jean Luc Brunel). Id. B
16. In a sworn declaration filed under seal a few weeks after the Joinder Mofion,
Giuffre repeated and expanded upon her allegations against Dershowitz. See Giuffre Declaratic;ﬁ
annexed hereto as EXHIBIT B. She claimed in the declaration that she was 15 when she rﬁet

Epstein, and that she had sex with Dershowitz at least six times between the ages of 16 and 19,

3 “One such powerful individual that Epstein forced then-minor Jane Doe #3 fo have sexual
relations with was former Harvard Law Professor Alan Dershowitz, a close friend of Epstein’s
and well-known criminal defense attorney. Epstein required Jane Doe #3 to have sexual relations
with Dershowitz on numerous occasions while she was a minor, not only in Florida but also on
private planes, in New York, New Mexico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. In addition to being a
participant in the abuse of Jane Doe #3 and other minors, Dershowitz was an eye-witness to the
sexual abuse of many other minors by Epstein and several of Epstein’s co-conspirators.
Dershowitz would later play a significant role in negotiating the NPA on Epstein’s behalf. Indeed,
Dershowitz helped negotiate an agreement that provided immunity from federal prosecution in the
Southern District of Florida not only to Epstein, but also to “any potential coconspirators of
Epstein.” NPA at 5. Thus, Dershowitz helped negotiate an agreement with a provision that
provided protection for himself against criminal prosecution in Florida for sexually abusing Jane
Doe #3. Because this broad immunity would have been controversial if disclosed, Dershowitz
(along with other members of Epstein’s defense team) and the Government tried to keep the
immunity provision secret from all of Epstein’s victims and the general public, even though such
secrecy violated the Crime Victims’ Rights Act.” (from Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 v. U.S., U.S.
District Court of Southern District of Florida, “JANE DOE #3 AND JANE DOE #4’S MOTION
PURSUANT TO RULE 21 FOR JOINDER IN ACTION" at 4)
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and gave specific details of the alleged encounters, though no timeframes. However, her
employment records prove that she did not even meet Epstein until she was 17 (or nearly 17). In
submitting this sworn declaration, Giuffre committed perjury. Critically, her perjury was suborned
by her lawyers at. BSF, who knew that these allegations were false and unsupported by credible . ‘
evidence.

17.  Giuffre’s false accusations against Dershowitz in the CVRA Joinder Motion were
stricken in a sanction by the Court pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f) as “impertinen » and
“immaterial” because they were “unnecessary to the determination of whether [Giuffre] should R
permitted to join [the original Petitioners’] claim that the Government violated their rights under
the CVRA.” See Judge Marra’s decision annexed hereto as EXHIBIT C.

18.  The circumstances of the CVRA Joinder Motion - from the timing of the filing, to
the decision to publicly name Dershowitz but not the other prominent men, to the unusual amount
of media coverage of the filing generated by Giuffre’s lawyers - strongly suggest that the
accusation against Dershowitz was part of a larger conspiracy undertaken by Giuffre and her
lawyers to subvert the judicial process for the purposes of making false claims against Dershowitz
in order to make a public éxample out of him, and extort private settlements from other, wealthier
individuals associated with Epstein, whose alleged misconduct was well outside the statute of
limitations. This evidenced an extortive scheme by Boies, BSF, and the BSF Clients, in order to
extract large settlements from prominent figures, and Dershowitz fell victim to such plot.

19.  Giuffre aﬁd her lawyers deliberately made these false allegations against o
Dershowitz in a court pleading in an effort to shield Giuffre from liability for defamation under
the litigation and fair report privileges. She and her lawyers intended that the allegations contained

in the CVRA Joinder Motion would be continuously repeated and widely disseminated by the
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media, which they were. The CVRA filing, and the lurid accusations against Dershowitz contained
therein, generated massive media coverage. Upon information and belief, Giuffre or her lawyers
either provided the media with copies of the CVRA Joinder Motion or directed them to the docket,
in order to stimulate media coverage at a time of year when most people were on vacation, and
Jong before the Epstein story was national news.

20.  Around the same time that she publicly accused Dershowitz, Giuffre, through her
lawyers at BSF, privately made an accusation against Leslie Wexner (hereinafter “Wexner”), the
billionaire founder and CEO of L Brands and owner of Victoria’s Secret. Boies personally niet
with Wexner’s léwyer in what Wexner’s lawyer and wife both described as a “shakedown”.
Although the statute of limitations had long expired for any legal action against Wexner, Boies
and his partner described in detail the alleged sexual encounters between Giuffre and Wexner,
including an alleged demand by Wexner that Giuffre‘wear Victoria’s Secret-type lingerie during
their encounters. Such an accusation, if made publicly, could have massively damaged Wexi;ér
and his company. No public accusation against Wexner was ever made. This means that Wexner
either submitted to Giuffre and her lawyers’ extortion conspiracy and paid the demanded hush
money, or that Boies came to disbelieve Giuffre’s claims regarding Wexner (yet has continued to
advance her clairﬁs despite the knowledge of their falsity). If the latter, the Boies firm suborned
perjury when Giuffre later testified under oath in a sealed deposition that she was sexually
trafficked to Wexner. This accusation was confirmed by Boies and BSF co-counsel Stanley

Pottinger in an affidavit:

9. In the fall of 2014, | asked Mr. Boies if his firm represented, or if he knew, Mr. Leslie
Wexner. | told him that in the course of investigating facts related to Mr. Epstein’s sex
trafficking, Mr. Wexner had been identified as a close business associate and personal friend
of Mr. Epstein. [ told Mr. Boies that there were assertions that Mr. Wexner had permitted Mr.
Epstein to use, and entertain on, Mr. Wexner's Yacht, and that Mr. Wexner was alleged to
have had sex with one or more of Mr. Epstein’s girls, including Ms. Giuffre.
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See Affidavit of Stanley Pottinger, annexed hereto as EXHIBIT D.

21. Déspite the allegations against Wexner by their own client Giuffre, Giuffre’s
attorneys inexplicably pivoted to the opposite, with Giuffre’s attorney Edwards even saying
Wexner did nothing wrong. Wexner was not alone, upon information and belief, Giuffre’s lawyers
also approached other wealthy individuals whose alleged misconduct was well beyond the statute
of limitations, as part of an extortion and shake down conspiracy.

22.  Boies and BSF knew, and had reason to know, that Giuffre’s claims regarding
Dershowitz are totally false, and have been disseminated with a knowledge of their falsity or a
reckless disregard for the truth, and out of ill-will and spite. Despite a prior history of monetary
motivation and inconsistencies, Boies and BSF supported Giuffre’s false allegations against
Dershowitz. Giuffre gave the first public account of her experiences with Epstein in a series of
interviews with British tabloid journalist Sharon Churcher in 2011, which Churcher published via
a series of articles‘ in the Daily Mail. See, articles annexed hereto as EXHIBIT E. Giuffre was paid
$160,000 for her story. Giuffre gave Churcher the names of prominent men she allegedly had sex
with. The Daily Mail articles make no mention of Dershowitz (except as an attorney for Epstein),
because Dershowitz was not among the men with whom Giuffre claimed to have had sex. Churcher
has confirmed that Giuffre never accused Dershowitz of having sex with her. At the same time she
was speaking with Churcher, Giuffre was shopping the rights to a book she was writing about her
time with Epstein. The manuscript of her book mentions Dershowitz, but only as a friend of
Epstein’s - not as someone with whom Giuffre had sex - and that Giuffre only saw Dershowitz
discussing business with Epstein, but never met him.

23.  Anemail exchange between Giuffre and Churcher is evidence of Giuffre’s knowing

and intentional fabrication of her allegations against Dershowitz. Giuffre emailed Churcher in May
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2011 to report that she was working towards a book deal and was “[jjust wondering if you have
any information on you from when you and I were doz‘ng interviews about the J.E. story. | I'wanted
to put the names of some of these assholes, oops, I meant to say, pedo’s, that J.E. sent me to. With
everything gqing on my brain feels like mush and it would be a great deal of help.” Churcher
replied: “Don’t forget Aldn Dershowitz....JE’s buddy and lawyer...good name for_your pitch as
he repped Claus Vion Bulow and a movie was made about that case....title was Reversal of F ortﬁhé.
We all suspect Alan is a pedo and tho no proof of that, you probably met him when he was hangiﬁg

[out] with JE.” Id. (ellipses in original; emphasis supplied).

— On Wed, [1/5/11, Sharon.Churcher@mailousunday.co.uk <Sharon Churcherigmeilonsunday.co.uk> wrote:

From. Sharon. Churcher@mailonsuuday co.uk <Sharor.Churcher@ mailonsunday co.uk>
Subject: Re: Gaod Mewst!
To: "Virgima Giuffic” < i
Received: Wednesday, 11 May, 2011, 417 PM

Don't torget Alae Dershowitz. JE's buddy and lawyer. good name for vour
pirch as he wepped Claus von Bulow and a movie was made about that
case..titde was Reversal of Fortune. We all suspect Alag is « pedo and tho
uo proof of that, you probably met him when he was hanging put w IE
24.  Giuffre wrote back but did not inform Churcher that she was mistaken that there
was “no proof” of sexual misconduct by Dershowitz. She did not do so because Churcher was
correct, and Giuffre had not reported having sex with Dershowitz. Instead, she replied only:
“Thanks again [Sharon], I'm bringing down the house with this book!!!” See, Giuffre-Churcher
email exchange annexed hereto as EXHIBIT F.
25.  Inthe spring 0of 2011, Giuffre was interviewed by the FBI regarding her experiences
with Epstein. She described in detail her time with Epstein and her allegations of being “lent out”

to Epstein’s friends, who she named, but never accused Dershowitz. Under the threat of criminal

prosecution for providing a false statement to a federal agent, Giuffre, despite the aforementioned
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conspiracy, did not state her false claims regarding Dershowitz to the FBI. This is corroborated by
the account of Giuffre’s close friend, who confirmed that Giuffre only accused Dershowitz after
she was pressured by her lawyers, including Boies, those at BSF and their co-counsel, to do so.

26.  Churcher has confirmed that Giuffre never accused Dershowitz of having sex with
her. This evidence proves that Giuffre’s claim that she had sex with Dershowitz is a recent
fabrication, concocted only after she met with her lawyers and was pressured by them to falsé‘ly
accuse Dershowitz. Regardless, Giuffre, Boies, BSF and their co-counsel, have disseminated the
accusation while knowing it was false. Indeed, Giuffre has lied about these emails by falsely
testifying under oath that no such emails between her and Churcher about Dershowitz existed. Her
counsel at BSF, including Boies and partner McCawley, upon becoming aware of Giuffre’s false
testimony, took no steps to correct the record. Boies, BSF and co-counsel, suborned Giuffre’s
perjury, and as such, they are likewise responsible for the defamatory acts against Dershowitz, and
are liable for the damages caused by the scheme as described herein.

27.  Despite Giuffre’s credibility having been completely destroyed, Boies, BSF and
co-counsel, contiﬁue to advance her false allegations against Dershowitz in a course of defamation
under the guise litigation. She has repeatedly and deliberately lied and committed perjury for
money — and this has been suborned by her attorneys including Boies and those at BSF. The false
allegations made by Giuffre against Dershowitz have been made after she met her attorneys, who
have pressured hér and suborned her perjury for their own and Giuffre’s profit. Her attorneys,
being fully aware of her penchant to lie and the falsity of her claims, have submitted perjured
affidavits, and vouched for her false testimony.

28. In addition to the false allegations against Dershowitz, she has fabricated

allegations and far-fetched stories against a number of high-profile individuals. For example, she
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has described in great detail having dinner with and closely observing former Vice President Al
Gore and his wife Tipper on Epstein’s Caribbean island and claims she saw Vice President Gore
and Epstein walk on the beach of the island together. The
Gores did not know Epstein and have never set foot on his island. When Dershowitz directly asked
Boies to call Al Gore, his former client, to confirm that Giuffre had lied when she claimed to have
met the Gores on Epstein’s Caribbean island, Boies responded: “I’'m not vouching for her general
credibility.”

29.  Giuffre has also alleged that she was f